RECEIVED

Oct 31 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Marvin H. Dukes III, Master-In-Equity

Civil Action No. 2021-CP-07-1507
Appellate Case No. 2022-000681

Beaufort County, Appellant,

v.

Adams Outdoor Advertising Limited Partnership and Bo Hodges, Respondents.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Brittany Ward, S.C. Bar # 103966
Deputy County Attorney
Office of the Beaufort County Attorney
102 Industrial Village, Bldg. 2
P.O. Drawer 1228
Beaufort, South Carolina 29001
(843) 255-2059
(843) 255-9414 (fax)
bward@bcgov.net

Scott D. Bergthold, Admitted Pro Hac Vice
Law Office of Scott D. Bergthold, P.L.L.C.

Preliminary Statement

Adams Outdoor Limited Partnership (“Adams”) and its local real estate manager, Bo Hodges, wanted to replace the rotting wooden structural poles supporting two decades-old, nonconforming billboards on Trask Parkway so that they could reap profits from those billboards for another 50 years. And they determined that Beaufort County’s Community Development Code (“CDC”)—which prohibits rebuilding nonconforming billboards and prohibits *any* billboard repairs without County authorization—would not stop them.

Hodges told the County that Adams intended to replace the billboards’ structural supports, and when staff responded that it must review and approve any work, Adams ignored them and started (on a weekend) to tear down and rebuild the signs. When the County Administrator went to the site on Saturday and told the supervisor to stop the work, Adams and its lawyer essentially told him to pound sand. On Monday, the County cited Adams and Hodges for the violations.

Three months later, the magistrate’s court held a trial. Adams and Hodges were represented by counsel, presented witnesses and evidence, and cross-examined the County’s witnesses. In its verdict, the magistrate court held that the CDC “clearly prohibits restoration of signs that have become structurally unsound.” (R. p. 283, Verdict at 5.) That court also found that “[i]t is clear that the Defendants had actual notice of the requirement that the County approve any work undertaken by them to the signs in question and that the Defendants chose to perform the work in spite of their failure to obtain proper approvals” from the County. (*Id.*)

The common pleas court reversed. Without disputing Adams’s and Hodges’s actual notice, and blatant disregard, of the CDC’s prohibitions, the court held that the failure to send them a warning notice of violation or to include certain details on the citations offended due process and required the conclusion that they “are not guilty of the charged violations.”

Statement of Issues on Appeal

In deciding this appeal, the Court need only address the following issue:

Actual notice. A due process claim based on lack of notice fails when one engages in conduct that he actually knows the law prohibits. It is undisputed that Adams Outdoor and Hodges replaced the rotting structural supports of two nonconforming billboards on Trask Parkway, despite having actual notice that Beaufort County's Community Development Code prohibited both that reconstruction and any billboard repair without County authorization. Do their claims based on lack of notice fail?

Statement of the Case

The County issued citations to Adams and Hodges on Monday, April 12, 2021. The cause was tried on July 14, and the magistrate issued her verdict the following week. The magistrate held a sentencing hearing on August 11, and imposed a fine of \$1,087.50 for each citation on August 13. Adams and Hodges filed their notice of appeal on August 20. On August 24, the magistrate's court filed the return in the common pleas court.

On October 22, 2021, the County filed a memorandum of law opposing appellants' appeal arguments. Adams and Hodges filed their appeal brief on October 26, and the Court of Common Pleas conducted a hearing via video conference on October 27. The County filed a post-hearing brief on November 8, and the court held a subsequent hearing via teleconference on November 24. The parties submitted proposed orders on January 18, 2022.

The common pleas court issued its Order on Appeal on April 22. Beaufort County timely served and filed its Notice of Appeal to this Court on May 20, 2022.

Statement of the Facts

A. Relevant Community Development Code Provisions

Beaufort County's zoning regulations are embodied in the CDC, which is divided into several articles. Article 9 (Enforcement) explains in Division 9.1 (Purpose) that the article "sets forth the remedies and penalties that apply to violations of this Development Code." (R. p. 507, DX-3¹ at 1, § 9.1.10.). That section explains that Article 9's provisions are "intended to encourage" the "voluntary correction of violations, *where possible*." (*Id.* (emphasis added).)

Yet under Division 9.5 (Remedies and Penalties), the CDC is clear that "[t]he remedies provided for violations of this Development Code, *whether civil or criminal* may be cumulative and in addition to any other remedy provided by law, and *may be exercised in any order*." (R. p. 512, § 9.5.40 (emphasis added).)

That division specifies in § 9.5.10 that: "Any person violating this Development Code shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction, shall pay such penalties as the court may provide, as prescribed by State law, not to exceed \$500.00 or 30 days imprisonment for each violation." (R. p. 511, § 9.5.10.)

Defining a violation, § 9.2.20 (Violations Generally) states: "Any failure to comply with a standard, requirement, prohibition, or limitation imposed by this Development Code . . . shall constitute a violation of this Development Code punishable as provided in this Article. (*Id.*)

Section 9.2.30 (Specific Violations) outlines particular violations of the CDC:

It shall be a violation of this Development Code to do any of the following:

- A. Develop land or a structure without first obtaining the appropriate permits or development approvals.

¹ At the trial, the County's exhibits were labeled with the prefix "PX-" and Adams's and Hodges's exhibits were labeled with the prefix "DX-".

J. Install, create, *erect, alter, or maintain any sign without first obtaining the appropriate permits* or development approvals.

L. Create, expand, replace, or *change any nonconformity* except in compliance with this Development Code.

(R. p. 507-508, § 9.2.30 (emphasis added).)

Under § 9.3.10 (Responsible Persons), “[a]ny person who violates this Development Code shall be subject to the remedies and penalties set forth in this article.” (R. p. 508-509, § 9.3.10.)

Section 9.4.10 specifies that “[t]he County Administrator or [his or her] designee shall be responsible for enforcing the provisions of this Development Code.” (R. p. 509, § 9.4.10.)

Consistent with the CDC’s stated purpose of encouraging voluntary compliance, § 9.4.40 provides a mechanism to issue “a warning notice of violation.” (*Id.*, § 9.4.40.) Section 9.4.50 provides for issuance of a Uniform Summons Ticket to a person given a warning notice of violation who fails to correct the violation. (R. p. 510, § 9.4.50.)

Nothing in the CDC, however, *prohibits* issuance of a Uniform Summons Ticket to a person violating the CDC, even if a warning notice of violation has not been issued. Indeed, after stating the general criminal penalty applicable to “[a]ny person violating this Development Code,” (R. p. 511, § 9.5.10), the next sentence of the CDC provides: “In addition, the County may use any combination of the following enforcement actions, remedies, and penalties *in any particular order* to correct, stop, abate or enjoin a violation of this Development Code.” (*Id.*, § 9.5.20 (emphasis added).) The final sentence of Article 9 specifies that remedies and penalties, “whether civil or criminal,” may be exercised “in any order.” (R. p. 512, § 9.5.40.)

Article 5, Division 5.6 (Sign Standards) contains the CDC’s sign regulations, including those governing Off-Premises Signs, commonly known as billboards. (R. p. 493, PX-7.) For

decades, Beaufort County has prohibited new billboards. (*Id.*, § 5.6.50(A).) Billboards that preexisted the prohibition were rendered nonconforming uses, with the expectation that as they deteriorate over time they will be eliminated—not rebuilt.

Adams and Hodges were cited for violating § 5.6.50(E), which clearly prohibits any work that will “improve the structural integrity of the billboard structure.” (R. p. 493-494, 5.6.50(E)(2).) The CDC’s prohibitions in this regard are unambiguous:

- “*Any structural or other substantive maintenance to a sign shall be deemed an abandonment of the sign*, shall render the prior permit void and shall result in removal of the sign without compensation.” (R. p. 493, CDC § 5.6.50(E)(2) (emphasis added).)
- “*Extension, enlargement, replacement, rebuilding, adding lights to an unilluminated sign, changing the height of the sign above ground, or re-erection of the sign are prohibited.*” (R. p. 494, CDC § 5.6.50(E)(3) (emphasis added).)

Even if a billboard face suffers damage in excess of normal wear and tear (e.g., damage from a storm event), *no work* can be done to that sign without “(a) Notifying the Code Enforcement Department in writing of the extent of the damage” and various details about the damage and the work to be done, and “(b) *Receiving written notice* from the Code Enforcement Department *authorizing the repair work.*” (R. p. 494, § 5.6.50(E)(4)(a), (b) (emphasis added).)

Failure to obtain the County’s written authorization terminates any lawful, nonconforming use of the sign: “*Any such sign that is repaired without the department’s authorization shall be removed by the County*, and the costs and expenses of such removal shall be paid by that person or entity making the unauthorized repairs.” (*Id.*, § 5.6.50(E)(4)(b) (emphasis added).)

Finally, while the State of South Carolina, through the Highway Advertising Control Act (“HACA”), regulates billboards that are along highways, “Nothing in this [act] abrogates or affects the provisions of a lawful ordinance, regulation, or resolution which is more restrictive than the provisions of” the Act, such as the Beaufort County CDC. S.C. Code Ann. § 57-25-220.

B. Chronology of Events

April 6-12. On April 6, 2021, Hodges emailed County Code Enforcement Director Audra Antonacci a letter telling her that “Adams Outdoor Advertising *will be* performing repair work on two sign locations,”² specifying the locations as the signs under permits “06-07-740766 and 06-07-740884” (R. p. 500-501 (emphasis added).) Hodges enclosed letters and permits from SCDOT, which further identified the signs as being on Trask Parkway (US-21) between SC-116 and SC-280, specifically at milepost 20.707 and milepost 20.725. (R. p. 504, 506.)

The next day, Antonacci emailed Hodges back to explain that she had spoken with interim County Administrator Eric Greenway, who advised her “that prior to any repairs being done Zoning will need to review the billboards and give approval for any repairs.” (R.p. 500.) She also asked Hodges: “[W]hat storm are you referring to that damaged the billboards?” (*Id.*) She then instructed Hodges to contact Hillary Austin, the Zoning Administrator, for any approvals. (*Id.*)

Hodges forwarded his correspondence to Austin on April 7 as a “notification,” but did not request any approvals. (R. p. 515.) Austin emailed him back the same day, asking for pictures of the signs as they currently stood, so that she could review them before making any decision. (*Id.*)

Hodges never sent pictures or sought the County’s approval. Rather, he was defiant in ignoring the County’s ordinances: “I was not asking for approval. I didn’t need approval.” (R. p. 234:22-23.) But he admits that he understood Austin’s and Antonacci’s emails. (R. p. 238:3-6.)

On Saturday, April 10, subcontractors for Adams began tearing down the billboards and replacing their structural supports. Contrary to the CDC and the County’s explicit instructions,

² Hodges stated that SCDOT approved Adams’s Storm Damage Applications to repair “damage suffered to both sign structures due to wind” (R. p. 501), but Hodges could not identify any wind event that caused damage. (R. p. 228:1-7.) Photos of the billboards, however, showed wooden structural poles rotting at their base from groundwater; these are the structural supports that Adams ultimately replaced. (R. p. 464-475.)

Adams removed the old sign poles, erected brand new 35-ft. poles, and re-installed the sign faces on the new poles. (R. p. 464-475, 446-449.)

That evening, interim County Administrator Eric Greenway was driving back into town between 6:00 and 7:00, and saw the crew rebuilding and re-erecting the decades-old billboards: “I saw cranes parked on the side of 21, in the right of way of 21, lifting poles into position in front of the McDonald’s sign, and I knew that was not appropriate underneath the Community Development Code.” (R. p. 194:13-20.) He stopped at the site and asked the project superintendent to show him any documents “that he had authorizing that work by the County and a copy of his business license to do business in Beaufort County. (R. p. 194:20-195:2.) But the superintendent could produce neither. (*Id.*) Greenway informed the superintendent that his letter from SCDOT “is not a local permit,” and asked him to get Hodges on the phone. (R. p. 195:5-7.)

The superintendent could not reach Hodges, and tried to call a representative named “Romera,” [*sic*] but he would not speak with Greenway while he was on site. (R. p. 195:8-13.)

Later that evening, Greenway emailed Hodges, copying other local Adams managers, Liz Mitchum and Joseph Romeo, explaining that he observed Adams “in the process of completely rebuilding two signs, located on both sides of Hwy. 21, near the address of 3589.” (R. p. 487.) Greenway explained that the County “has issued no approvals for Adams to conduct this work and will not issue approval for the complete rebuild of these signs since doing so will violate the Community Development Code.” (*Id.*) Greenway reiterated that a SCDOT letter “is not a local permit nor proper authorization to reconstruct an outdoor advertising display.” (*Id.*) He stated:

My attempts, through the onsite contractor, at getting Mr. Romero to stop the work failed repeatedly as did my attempted phone call to you [Hodges] and Ms. Mitchum so I am sending this email to you ordering you to immediately cease and desist from any additional work on these two sites until we have had a chance to discuss this matter and decide a proper course for further action.

(*Id.*)

Greenway also forwarded his email to Hodges, Mitchum, and Romeo to Ben Armitage, whom Greenway understood to be Hodges's supervisor. (R. p. 486-487; R. p. 204:13-16.) In his forwarding email to Armitage, the County Administrator wrote:

Ben,

I thought you should be aware of the below. This type of thing is very atypical of Adams Outdoor and I was honestly shocked at the blatant disregard for our approval process and my request for the work to stop. In the future, when I ask for work to stop it is probably in everyone's best interest for it to stop until we can resolve the issue and cooperate on a solution. Mr. Romero [*sic*] refused to talk to me this evening after me discovering that your Beaufort staff appears to have started work without proper permits.

Thanks,

Eric Greenway

(R. p. 486-487.)

Neither Hodges, Mitchum, Romeo, or Armitage responded to the County Administrator.

Instead, Adams's general counsel, Richard Zecchino, responded at 8:44 a.m. on Sunday morning, April 11. (R. p. 485-486.) After explaining that Greenway's emails had been forwarded to him for a response, Zecchino expressed his view that state law (the HACA) displaced local law (the CDC) as to these two billboards, and that the CDC is invalid. (*Id.*)

Although the first mention of construction work on the two billboards had first been mentioned to the County only five days prior, on April 6, Zecchino stated: "Rather than wait for continued delays from Beaufort County—which were obviously done with the hope to find a way around SCDOT's determination, or with some other hope to block what should be a straightforward approval—Adams performed the repairs approved by SCDOT." (R. p. 486.)

Zecchino—fully aware of the two billboards at issue and the County's instructions to obtain review and approval for any construction work under the CDC—then asserted:

Your email below is not a proper “stop work order,” and has no legal effect. Should you take any action to prohibit Adams from doing what it is legally entitled to do with respect to this work, all you will be doing is inviting a lawsuit by Adams against the County.

Adams intends to complete the work approved by SCDOT today.

(R. p. 486 (emphasis added).)

The County Administrator replied to Zecchino at 8:53 a.m. Sunday morning, and again asked Adams “to hold off on any more construction until this issue can be appropriately resolved.” (R. p. 485.)

Adams refused, and completed reconstructing and re-erecting the billboards on Sunday.

By the time that Greenway met with County staff on Monday morning, April 12, it was clear that obtaining Adams’s voluntary compliance with the CDC was *not* possible.

By then, Hodges and Adams had: (1) told the County about the reconstruction work that it would be doing on the two specifically identified billboards, (2) refused to respond to the County’s request for pictures, and refused to seek the required approval from the County, (3) proceeded to tear down and reconstruct the billboards on a weekend (when County staff are not working), (4) repeatedly refused to stop the illegal construction work when the Administrator asked Adams to do so at the construction site on Saturday, via email on Saturday, and again via email on Sunday, and (5) through its general counsel told the Administrator to stand down and threatened the County with a lawsuit, all while promising to finish the unpermitted construction work in derogation of the CDC’s requirements and the County’s explicit instructions.

So on April 12, the County enforced the CDC’s regulations. The County issued a stop work order and uniform ordinance summonses (citations), together, to both Adams and Hodges via certified mail. (R. p. 489-492; R. p. 251:9-25.) The stop work order cited, and included a copy of, CDC § 5.6.50(E) (Maintenance Standards for Off-Premises Signs). (R. p. 489-491.) It further

stated that the unpermitted work was done “to billboards 7036/74062 and 74065/70091 located on Trask Parkway in Beaufort County,” identifying the two signs by the ID tag numbers assigned to each face of the double-sided billboards. (R. p. 489; R. p. 103:9-19.)

The citations that were served along with the stop work order also cited Adams and Hodges for violating the off-premises sign restrictions in CDC § 5.6.50(E) as to the two billboards on Trask Parkway. (R. p. 492.) The citations identified the violation date as April 10, 2021—the date that the County Administrator stopped at the Trask Parkway site where Adams was reconstructing the two billboards referenced in Bo Hodges’s April 6, 2021 correspondence to the County. (R. p. 489-492.) The stop work order, CDC § 5.6.50(E), and the citations were delivered to Adams on April 15, 2021 (R. p. 238:7-20; R. p. 251:9-252:4.)

Magistrate Court Trial and Verdict. At trial on the citations, Adams and Hodges were represented by counsel (Mr. Williams), presented evidence and testimony, and cross-examined County staff. (R. p. 97:4-275:4.) Antonacci, Greenway, and Hodges all testified. (R. p. 147:17-255:17.) Adams and Hodges did not dispute that they completed construction work on April 10-11, without County approval, on the two billboards that Hodges had written staff about on April 6.

Instead, Adams claimed that, while it was blatantly violating the CDC over the weekend, the County was required to first send Adams a warning notice of violation (e.g., via U.S. certified mail)—and that absent that futile act, the citations were invalid. (R. p. 266:19-25.)

Code Enforcement Director Antonacci, however, confirmed that “the purpose of the warning system” is “simply to give someone who may not know that they’re engaged in a violation” the instruction “that they need to abstain until they get the proper approval” where that is possible. (R.p. 185:7-13.) This was not such a case, and Antonacci confirmed that blatant CDC

violators are issued citations when the County's verbal directives are ignored. (R. p. 185:14-23.)

The magistrate court issued its Verdict on July 23, 2021. Based on the evidence presented at trial, the magistrate court found that the Defendants, Hodges and Adams, proceeded with the work to the two billboards, which "included replacing four structural poles which held up one sign and replacing six structural poles for the other sign." (R. p. 282.)

Additionally, based on Hodges's testimony, the new poles were not in "the same spot as the original ones because there would have been cement footings in the ground where the original poles were located and it was impossible to put them back in the same location from which they were removed." (R. p. 282-283.)

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