RECEIVED

Oct 28 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master-In-Equity

Circuit Court Case No. 2021-CP-07-01507
Appellate Case No. 2022-000681

Beaufort County, Appellant,

v.

Adams Outdoor Advertising Limited Partnership and Bo Hodges, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Jeffrey S. Tibbals S.C. Bar No. 72628
jst@bybeetibbals.com
Evan P. Williams S.C. Bar No. 101981
ewilliams@bybeetibbals.com
BYBEE & TIBBALS, LLC
735 Johnnie Dodds Blvd., Suite 104
Mt. Pleasant, South Carolina 29464
P.O. Box 1542 (29465)
Telephone: 843.881.1623

*Attorneys for Respondents Adams Outdoor

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

The Citations speak for themselves (R. p. 181, lines 3-10) and clearly show they do not contain the required information. (R. p. 282; R. p. 13 (“The County failed to (1) identify the owner of the land upon which the alleged violation took place; (2) list the address where the alleged violation took place with any specificity; and (3) the nature of the violation.”)). And contrary to the plain and unambiguous language of CDC § 9.4.50.C.-D., the County's Code Enforcement Director testified that she, rather than the court's clerk, sent the Citations to Respondents. (R. p. 251, lines 17-22; *see also* R. p. 282). Additionally, the County only mailed one copy of the

Citations, rather than mailing separate copies to each of the Respondents as required by § 9.4.50.D. (R. p. 251, line 9-p. 252, line 12; R. p. 399).

The factual record is clear that the County failed to follow the CDC's provisions governing the issuance of criminal charges. Because the County failed to issue the Citations in accordance with its own code, the Circuit Court was correct in reversing the Magistrate's rulings.

E. The Circuit Court Correctly Held that the Magistrate's "Harmless Error" Finding Constituted Reversible Error.

In another misguided effort to distract the Court, the harmless error doctrine is taken out of context and misapplied by the County. It asks the Court to expand the doctrine's application to procedural errors committed by a municipal body in issuing ordinance citations. Yet, all of the authority the County cites as support involved trial and evidentiary procedures – because harmless error is a doctrine based upon errors at trial during the case's presentation to the jury.

[T]he Court has applied harmless-error analysis to a wide range of errors and has recognized that most constitutional errors can be harmless. . . . The common thread connecting these cases is that **each involved "trial error" — error which occurred during the presentation of the case to the jury**, and which may therefore be quantitatively assessed in the context of other evidence presented in order to determine whether its admission was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 307-08 (emphasis added) (case cited in Cty. Br. p. 21).

Because the County can muster no valid argument for its flagrant failures to comply with the CDC's requirements, it conceals and misrepresents the actual import of the case law cited. *See* cases cited Cty. Br. pp. 21-22. At issue here is whether the County served the mandatory predicate to the issuance of an ordinance summons. There is no alleged trial error at play and thus the harmless error doctrine has no bearing upon the decision at hand. Accordingly, the Circuit Court correctly held that the Magistrate erred in deeming the County's non-compliance with a penal code to be harmless error.

And, even if application of the harmless error doctrine in this instance was permissible, the County's argument is without merit. The code of ordinances clearly sets forth what steps must be taken and what information must be provided before the County can attempt to prosecute an alleged violator. The County's non-compliance is no small error or defect – it is a complete failure to adhere to the requirements of its ordinance governing the procedures and contents required of criminal notices and citations.

The County's lack of regard for the process required by its CDC is a substantial and egregious error that required reversal of the Magistrate's rulings. "The Verdict must be reversed because there is no evidence that the County issued a Notice of Violation, a prerequisite to a Uniform Summons Ticket, and a requirement for criminal prosecution of an alleged violation of the CDC." R. p. 12.

II. THE STATE REGULATION CONTROLS OVER THE COUNTY'S OFF-PREMISES SIGN MAINTENANCE ORDINANCE, AND SCDOT'S APPROVALS INVALIDATE THE CITATIONS.

As an additional sustaining ground, Respondents request that this Court affirm the lower court's reversal of the Magistrate Court on the basis that the provisions of CDC § 5.6.50.E. are not more restrictive than those of the State Regulation, such that that the subject CDC provisions are abrogated and sign maintenance decisions under the State Regulation are controlling on those issues. This matter was raised at trial and to the Circuit Court, which declined to address the issue, and, in accordance with Rules 208(b)(2) and 220(c), SCACR, is contained in the record on appeal. (*See, e.g.*, R. p. 131, line 1-p.132, line 5; R. p. 265, line 22-p. 266, line 7; R. pp. 364-65; R. pp. 381-85; R. p. 22 at ¶¶ 4, 5, 6, 8; R. p. 49, line 15-p. 51, line 16); *see also I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 417-23, 526 S.E.2d 716, 721-25 (2000).

A. Because CDC § 5.6.50.E. Is Not More Restrictive than S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 63-350, the SCDOT-Approved Repair Work Did Not Violate the CDC.

The County contends, and the Magistrate erred in impliedly holding, that the CDC’s maintenance ordinance is more restrictive than and controls over applicable state law. Cty. Br. p. 5; (R. p. 283).⁷ Section 57-25-220 of the HACA, titled “Rule of construction,” provides that the Act does not “abrogate[] or affect[] the provisions of a lawful ordinance, regulation, or resolution which is more restrictive than the provisions of [the HACA].” S.C. Code Ann. § 57-25-220 (R. p. 381).

The County cannot identify any specific language or provision of CDC § 5.6.50.E. that is more restrictive than the State Regulation. On comparison, the text of CDC § 5.6.50.E. (R. pp. 364-65) is clearly modeled after and contains language substantially similar to the State Regulation (R. pp. 384-85). Indeed, the County’s trial counsel pointed out that its maintenance ordinance contains “pretty much the same” language as the State Regulation (R. p. 124, line 24-p. 125, line 3), and mischaracterized HACA’s construction provision (R. p. 263, lines 16-17 (“The state law says you have to comply with the local ordinances.”); R. p. 272, lines 7-10 (“the way the state law is set up, is that in addition to State approval, you have to get County approval[]”)).

There is a significant distinction, though, in that the State Regulation imposes additional conditions and requirements not found in CDC § 5.6.50.E., making the state law more restrictive. Accordingly, under the text of § 57-25-220 of the HACA, the County’s ordinance is abrogated by the HACA and State Regulation promulgated thereunder. As a result, SCDOT’s authorizations

⁷ The Verdict contains no express statement that all or part of CDC § 5.6.50.E. is more restrictive than provisions of HACA or Chapter 63 of the S.C. Code of Regulations. Rather, it merely quotes S.C. Code Ann. § 57-25-220 and in the following sentences summarizes certain provisions of CDC § 5.6.50.E., without any comparison to the State Regulation. (R. p. 283).

for repairs to the Billboards issued under the State Regulation are authoritative and Respondents' resulting work, permitted by SCDOT, did not constitute a violation of the CDC.

1. South Carolina's Fifty Percent Damage Provision Compared to the County's.

Because the Billboards were repaired under a fifty percent damage determination, the respective state and County code provisions on that issue are set forth for comparison below.

In the event a nonconforming device is partially destroyed by wind or other natural forces including tornadoes, hurricanes, or other catastrophic occurrences, the Department must determine whether to allow the sign to be rebuilt. If the Department determines that the damage to the sign was greater than 50 percent of its replacement costs as determined by nationally recognized catalogues of vendors of construction and outdoor advertising materials as of the time of the damage, the sign must be dismantled at no cost to the Department and may not be erected again. A current issue of the catalogue or advertisement indicating materials to be replaced must be submitted with the request to rebuild. Salvage parts cannot be used to determine replacement value unless approved by the Department.

S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 63-350.C.(4) (emphasis added) (R. p. 384).

If a sign is partially destroyed by wind or other natural forces, the Director must determine whether to allow the sign to be rebuilt. If the Director determines that the damage to the sign was greater than 50 percent of its replacement cost as of the time of the damage, the sign must be consistent with all current requirements of this chapter.

CDC § 5.6.50.E.4.c. (emphasis added) (R. p. 365).

As depicted with underlined emphasis, the County's ordinance contains no provision that imposes a more restrictive, or even different, requirement of the billboard owner.⁸ But it is also clear on facial comparison that the State Regulation sets forth three conditions or requirements not

⁸ The state's penalty of dismantling as opposed to the County's of requiring consistency with its current ordinances yields no different outcome, as the CDC requires removal of a sign determined to be more than fifty percent damaged. *See* CDC §§ 5.6.50.A., B., E., 5.6.20.A., J. (rendering billboards nonconforming, requiring removal of dilapidated or structurally unsound signs, and prohibiting new billboards).

contained in the County's ordinance: damage percentage is determined by nationally recognized catalogues of vendors, a current issue of the same must be submitted with the request, and salvage parts cannot be used for value determination unless approved by SCDOT. (R. p. 384).

Moreover, due to its absence of those specifications, CDC § 5.6.50.E., unlike the State Regulation, lacks any objective criteria by which the Director is to determine whether damage to a sign was greater than 50 percent of its replacement cost, and vests unbridled discretion in the Director to make such a decision.

2. Remaining Provisions Illustrate State Regulation is More Restrictive.

In addition, review of the laws' respective subparts shows that the remaining language of CDC § 5.6.50.E. contains no separate or added restrictions than that of the State Regulation. In ruling that CDC § 5.6.50.E. is more restrictive, the Magistrate looked to provisions other than its subpart E.4.c. at issue, noting that the CDC: a) prohibits restoration of structurally unsound signs; b) deems structural or other substantive maintenance to a sign abandonment of the same; c) prohibits "replacement, rebuilding, ... or re-erection of a sign[;]" and d) only authorized repairs to damage in excess of normal wear if the County was notified of the damage and authorized the repairs. (R. p. 283).

The Magistrate failed to recognize that those exact same standards are contained in the State Regulation. *See* S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 63-350.A.-B. (providing, collectively, that signs which are not structurally safe, or are abandoned, are illegal); 63-350.C.(1) ("No maintenance may occur which will lengthen the life" of a sign.); 63-350.C.(6) (specifying that a relocated or moved billboard is no longer considered nonconforming); 63-350C.(7) ("Extension, enlargement, rebuilding . . . or re-erection of the sign will make it illegal."); and 63-350.C.(9) (providing that

repairs in excess of normal wear require that SCDOT be notified of the damage and authorize repairs for the same). (R. pp. 384-85).

The Magistrate also failed to take notice that the remainder of the State Regulation contains additional restrictions and requirements that are not found in CDC § 5.6.50.E., further demonstrating that the state law is more restrictive. *See, e.g.*, S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 63-350.C.(8), D., and E. (R. p. 385) (unlike the CDC, requiring that the authoritative body be notified of any routine or substantive sign maintenance prior to the work being performed, prohibiting vegetation alteration or addition within rights-of-way without SCDOT's approval, and prohibiting servicing of signs within or across certain rights-of-way, or across certain controlled access lines).

The County's argument on this matter at trial consisted of bluster alone. The County argued that its ordinance is more restrictive because the Director prohibited the work that the SCDOT had permitted. (*See* R. p. 272, lines 11-21 (As to the argument "about, you know, that [the] County's regulation's not more restrictive. Well, that's kind of silly since the director said, under the County's regulation, you can't do what you did. And under the state regulation, somehow . . . [Adams] got some letter from the DOT.")). In other words, the CDC provision is more restrictive because it apparently provides unfettered discretion to County officials.

This argument is conclusory and result-oriented. As detailed *supra*, the County's fifty percent damage provision contains no additional language than what is set forth in the State Regulation. The CDC provision does vary from the State Regulation, because it lacks objective, measurable standards or conditions the applicant must satisfy, instead leaving the decision to the Director's judgment, formed in this case during a drive-by. Because it is clear that the County's off-premises sign maintenance ordinance is not more restrictive than South Carolina's regulation, the State Regulation controls over and abrogates the provisions of CDC § 5.6.50.E. Accordingly,

Adams' repairs of the Billboards pursuant to SCDOT's approvals were proper and Respondents could not be charged with criminal offenses for the same.

B. The County's Unfounded Belief It Can Veto SCDOT's Approvals.

Although it repeatedly misrepresented the effect of the subject HACA provision at trial, the County did acknowledge in its sprawling opening argument that Adams only needs to comply with local ordinances more restrictive than state law. (R. p. 120, lines 8-22 (“So the state Law is the floor, the minimum standard that you have to comply with. But if something in the local government code is more restrictive, you have to comply with that.”)).

But, rather than offer any specific ordinance language more restrictive than that of the State Regulation, the County relies on deception or falsities, such as its argument that it has the inherent ability to veto, or overrule, decisions by SCDOT as to maintenance of signs governed by the HACA. (R. p. 130, lines 10-14 (“[T]he state statute [] says local government regulations are not abrogated and the sign has to comply with state law as well as local government regulations.”); R. p. 127, lines 14-25 (“But more importantly, and the overarching contention, was that regardless of what the State says, . . . the County's regulations are at play[.]”); *see also* R. p. 272, line 24-p. 273, line 6).

Because its ordinance is not more restrictive, the County claims it has ultimate authority over SCDOT as to repair of signs adjacent to SCDOT-controlled roads. (R. p. 271, line 4-p. 272, line 10 (“And, frankly, they might have gotten away with it with DOT. . . . But regardless of whether they got away with one, they came over to the County and they didn't -- they can't get away with it because the way the state law is set up, is that in addition to State approval, you have to get County approval.”)).

The County's argument is that SCDOT's decisions under the State Regulation, and the regulation itself, do not matter and should not be afforded any consideration. "The onsite contractor called this a 'repair' but had no official paper work other than a letter from Mr. Melvin with SCDOT which, as you should know, is not a local permit nor proper authorization[.]" (R. p. 356; *see also* R. p. 272, line 22-p. 273, line 5 ("But [SCDOT's approval] doesn't really matter for the purposes of this hearing because this hearing is a citation under the Community Development Code in the County[.]")). Regardless of what SCDOT says, the County argues it is in charge and gets to make the decisions. (R. p. 196, lines 15-17 (Greenway testifying that "the DOT [approval] letter is irrelevant, they don't comply with local ordinances.")).

The County resorts to the argument that SCDOT's objective determinations must yield to a single official's arbitrary and subjective decision, which need not be based on any criteria, data, or documentation. It seems unlikely that the state legislature intended that its carefully formulated standards could be overruled on a whim by a local official with a grudge.

Such a position has no support under the law or the facts of this case. Respondents respectfully submit that the lower court's reversal of the Magistrate should be affirmed, as an additional sustaining ground, on the basis that the repairs to the Billboards performed with SCDOT's approval under the State Regulation were not chargeable offenses or violations, as the State Regulation is authoritative and controls over CDC § 5.6.50.E.

CONCLUSION

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